S273134

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT COOPER,

Defendant and Appellant

Supreme Court No. 2d. Crim. B304490 Sup. Ct. No. TA140718

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Elizabeth K. Horowitz State Bar No. 298326

Law Office of Elizabeth K. Horowitz, Inc. 5272 S. Lewis Ave, Suite 256 Tulsa, OK 74105 Telephone: (424) 543-4710 Email: elizabeth@ekhlawoffice.com Attorney for Appellant By Appointment of the Court of Appeal Under the California Appellate Project Independent Case System

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT COOPER,

Defendant and Appellant

Supreme Court No. 2d. Crim. B304490 Sup. Ct. No. TA140718

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TO: THE HONORABLE TANI CANTIL-SAKAUYE, CHIEF JUSTICE, AND TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA:

Appellant respectfully petitions this Court to grant review of the unpublished opinion of the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six, filed on January 14, 2022. Appellant seeks full review of the first two issues presented. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. (b)(1).) The remaining two issues are presented solely to exhaust state remedies for purposes of federal habeas review. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.508.) A copy of the Opinion is attached as Exhibit A to this petition.¹

¹ Appellant has also filed a separate Petition for Review of the denial of his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which sets forth an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW AND QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Assembly Bill No. 333, which took effect on January 1, 2022, has amended section 186.22 to require proof of additional elements to establish a gang enhancement. (See Stats. 2021, ch. 699 (hereafter "A.B. 333").)

The Court of Appeal properly found this new law applies retroactively to appellant's non-final case – which means appellant's jury was never required to find certain elements of the current gang enhancement proven. The Court of Appeal also properly cited *Chapman* for its review of this federal due process issue. However, in its actual application, the court applied *Chapman* only in name, it merely paid lip service to the amended law, and it reached an unsupported decision.

A.B. 333 is intended to increase the burden for proving a gang enhancement. Under the amended law, to demonstrate a pattern of criminal gang activity for the purpose of establishing a criminal street gang, predicate crimes can no longer simply be shown to have been committed by fellow gang members within a certain time frame. Now, predicates must also be shown to have benefitted the gang, to have done so in a manner that is more than reputational, and the pattern of criminal activity they are alleged to constitute must have been committed "collectively."

Here, the evidence presented of the alleged predicates shows only that two gang members committed one crime each (a robbery and a narcotics sale) in the proper timeframe. The record therefore does not contain evidence supporting the new

elements described above, as nothing demonstrates the crimes benefitted the gang, or that they were committed collectively.

Yet, the appellate court found no reversible error. It instead concluded that because the crimes were committed by gang members and were of the type the gang might commit, there "was no reasonable doubt that the jury would have found the enhancement true had it been instructed with the amendments to section 186.22." (Opinion 14.)

Simply put, this was not a proper application of the new law, or of *Chapman* review. The lower court's conclusion effectively rendered the new elemental requirements meaningless, and failed to recognize that when a jury has not decided every element of a charge against a defendant, it is not enough to find some or even strong evidence that could support a conviction under the proper elements (which, notably, the evidence the court cited to here did not even do). Rather, the question is whether the guilty verdict actually rendered in the trial was *surely unattributable to the error* – which is the case when the omitted elements were both uncontested and supported by *overwhelming* evidence – i.e., a much higher standard than what the court applied here, and one that is not met by the record in this case.

The Court of Appeal's decision also conflicts with two recently published cases addressing these issues. In *People v. Lopez* (Dec. 29, 2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 288 Cal.Rptr.3d 463, after a lengthy discussion of A.B. 333, the court reversed a gang enhancement where the evidence presented was virtually

identical to that presented here, because the court properly found such evidence did *not* establish the new elemental requirements of section 186.22, and therefore reversal was needed to preserve the defendant's "constitutional right to a jury trial on every element of the charged enhancement." (*Id.* at p. 479.) Notably, the Court of Appeal did not mention *Lopez* below, and yet it sets forth the better-reasoned approach.

In addition, since the Court of Appeal's decision was rendered, another court, in *People v. Sek* (Feb. 1, 2022) _____ Cal.Rptr.3d __ [2022 WL 292614], addressed A.B. 333's new requirement that the underlying crime have benefitted the gang in a manner that was more than reputational. There, the court reversed the enhancement because the record established the prosecution relied on both reputational and non-reputational benefits to support the gang enhancement – which also occurred here – and found that "[a]lthough there was a great deal of evidence of benefits to the gang that went beyond reputational, [the court could] not rule out the possibility that the jury relied on reputational benefit to the gang as its basis for finding the enhancements true," and therefore reversal was required under *Chapman.* (*Id.*, at p *5.)

The conflicts between these published cases and the court's decision below shows that the lower courts need further guidance on how to apply A.B. 333 retroactively. And, notably, respondent has asked the Court of Appeal to publish the opinion issued in this case because its analysis differs from those employed in *Lopez* and *Sek* – though, as will be discussed in more detail

below, respondent's explanation of the lower court's opinion only further demonstrates why it is incorrect.

Thus, based on the foregoing, review is needed to provide guidance on these issues, to promote uniformity of decision, and to ensure that *all* courts are properly addressing defendants' rights to have a jury decide all elements of the charges against them. Appellant thereby asks this Court to grant review, or to remand his case for reconsideration. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1) and (b)(4).)

In addition, review is needed to make clear that where a record is at best ambiguous as to whether a court understood its full sentencing discretion, remand is appropriate.

Here, appellant had a strike prior, and the jury found true principal firearm enhancements under Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivisions (b), (c), (d), and (e)(1). The trial court rejected appellant's requests to strike his prior and the firearm enhancement under subdivisions (d) and (e)(1). However, the court never considered the option of striking the greater firearm enhancement(s) and instead imposing a lesser one – and several aspects of the record show the court likely did not recognize it had the discretion to do so.

For example, the court made *numerous* comments indicating that it wanted to provide some leniency to appellant, but felt it had no power to. And yet, the court's assessment of its own sentencing authority was limited to its power under the Three Strikes Law – which is distinct from its authority regarding gun enhancements. Moreover, no request was made by

the defense to impose one of the lesser enhancements under section 12022.53, subdivisions (b) or (c), and both parties presented the issue to the court as an all-or-nothing choice of either striking or imposing 25 years to life under the greatest enhancement. Accordingly, when considering the court's desire to provide leniency, its stated belief that it could not do so only under *Romero*, and the lack of discussion regarding its ability to impose a lesser firearm enhancement, the record indicates the court simply did not appreciate that it had such discretion. Or, at the very least, the record was ambiguous on this issue, making remand proper. (See *People v. Lua* (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 1004.)

On appeal, the lower court conceded that the trial court did not expressly address its refusal to strike the firearm enhancement, but found it "reasonable" to assume the court refused to do so based on the same facts that led it to deny the *Romero* motion. This conclusion, however, ignores the trial court's statements, overlooks that a decision under *Romero* does not indicate the same decision would be made regarding a gun enhancement (*People v. Johnson* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 26, 69), and fails to account for the ambiguity in a sentencing record like the current one that should lead to a remand, even if a reviewing court can come up with one "reasonable" interpretation of the trial court's intent. (*People v. Lua, supra*, at pp. 1020-21.)

Notably, the issue presented here is also related to the one this Court recently addressed in *People v. Tirado* (Jan. 20, 2022)__ Cal.Rptr.3d __ [2022 WL 176141], which involved a court's discretion to strike *uncharged* lesser firearm enhancements. And while the issue in *Tirado* is different, it is notable that both cases have arisen from the courts' very recently-authorized power to strike *any* gun enhancements under section 12022.53(h). Thus, given that this discretionary power is rather new, and *Tirado* demonstrates that it is not entirely straightforward, there exists a clear probability that the trial court here misunderstood, or simply failed to contemplate, its own full authority when it handed down appellant's sentence.

Accordingly, the appellate court's decision demonstrates the need for more guidance to ensure that sentencing decisions are made with the informed discretion of the court, and to make clear that remand is proper when the record is at best ambiguous on this issue. Appellant thereby asks this Court to grant review, or, in the alternative, to remand the case for reconsideration. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1) and (b)(4).)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

For purposes of this petition, appellant adopts the background from the Court of Appeal's Opinion. (See Opinion 2-5.) Appellant references other aspects of the record where necessary.

ARGUMENT: ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW I. REVIEW IS NEEDED TO ENSURE THAT APPELLATE COURTS DO NOT VIOLATE A DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL ON ALL ELEMENTS OF A CHARGED ALLEGATION WHEN RETROACTIVELY APPLYING NEW ELEMENTS OF AN ENHANCEMENT

As noted, A.B. 333 amended section 186.22 to require proof of additional elements to establish a gang enhancement. Here, the appellate court properly found these amendments apply retroactively to appellant's case. (See Opinion 12; *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740.) However, the court erroneously found that the inadequate legal theory presented to the jury under the former law was harmless, and in doing so it violated appellant's right to have a jury decide every element of the charges against him.

A. A.B. 333's Amendments To Section 186.22

Under section 186.22, a defendant is subject to a gang enhancement if a felony was "committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any *criminal street gang*...." (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1) (hereafter, "section 186.22(b)(1)"), emphasis added.)

Under former section 186.22, a "criminal street gang" was defined as "any ongoing organization, association, or group of three or more persons, whether formal or informal, having as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more [enumerated criminal acts], having a common name or common identifying sign or symbol, and whose members *individually or collectively* engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity." (Former § 186.22, subd. (f), emphasis added.)

Now, A.B. 333 has narrowed the definition of " 'criminal street gang'" to "an ongoing, organized association or group of three or more persons, whether formal or informal, having as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more [enumerated criminal acts], having a common name or common identifying sign or symbol, and whose members *collectively*

engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity." (§ 186.22, subd. (f), emphasis added.)

In addition, under former section 186.22, a "pattern of criminal gang activity" meant "the commission of, attempted commission of, conspiracy to commit, or solicitation of, sustained juvenile petition for, or conviction of two or more of [enumerated] offenses, provided at least one of these offenses occurred after the effective date of this chapter and the last of those offenses occurred within three years after a prior offense, and the offenses were committed on separate occasions, or by two or more persons." (Former § 186.22, subd. (e).) Now, A.B. 333 redefined a "pattern of criminal gang activity" to require a stricter timeframe for the predicate offenses, and to require that the predicates have "commonly benefited a criminal street gang, and the common benefit of the offenses is more than reputational." (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(1), emphasis added.) The newly-amended law also provides examples of benefits that are more than reputational, including "financial gain or motivation, retaliation, targeting a perceived or actual gang rival, or intimidation or silencing of a potential current or previous witness or informant." (§ 186.22, subd. (g).)

Note these amendments also affect gang-principal firearm enhancements under section 12022.53, subdivision (e)(1), which rely on a true finding under section 186.22. (See *Lopez, supra*, 288 Cal.Rptr.3d 463, *479-80.)

B. The Appellate Court Failed To Properly Apply The New Law, And Its Finding That The Now-Invalid Legal Theory Submitted To The Jury Was Harmless Is Unsupported

Here, the jury's true finding on the gang enhancement (and by reference the principle firearm enhancement) resulted from the court's instruction under former section 186.22. (See 3RT 2730-32, 2788-89; 2CT 286-87, 299A, 302-03.)

Meaning, appellant's jury was *not* instructed that to find a pattern of criminal gang activity, the alleged predicates must be shown to have been committed for the benefit of the gang and in a manner not related to the gang's reputation, nor was it instructed that to find a criminal street gang, the members must have "collectively engage in "that pattern of criminal gang activity. (§ 186.22, subds. (e)(1) and (f).)

It is well-established that the right to due process guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, and the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, all "require criminal convictions to rest upon a jury determination that the defendant is guilty of every element of the crime with which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt." (*United States v. Gaudin* (1995) 515 U.S. 506, 510; emphasis added.)

Thus, an instruction like the one given here, "that relieves the prosecution of the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each essential element of the charged offense," "violates the defendant's rights under both the United States and California Constitutions, and is subject to *Chapman* review." (*People v. Larsen* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 810, 829, citing *Neder v. U.S.*

(1999) 527 U.S. 1, 4; see also *Alleyne v. United States* (2013) 570
U.S. 99; Opinion 14.)

Pursuant to *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, instructional error requires reversal unless it can be shown beyond a reasonable doubt that it did not contribute to the verdict. And an instruction that omits an element may be found harmless only "where a reviewing court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error." (*Neder, supra,* 527 U.S. 1, 17; see also *People v. Sakarias* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 596, 625.)

At appellant's trial, no information was presented regarding the predicates apart from the existence of two convictions (including a robbery and narcotics sale) that were committed by fellow gang members. (3RT 2451-55; 1CT 242-54.) The record thus contains *no* discussion of the circumstances surrounding the predicates, and certainly nothing showing that they benefitted the gang. For example, no evidence showed that the fruits of the crimes either did or were intended to benefit the gang, or that they were committed in the gang's name, versus being for personal gain. And furthermore, no evidence established that the crimes, committed by two separate individuals, constituted *collective* gang activity.

Accordingly, it cannot be shown beyond a reasonable doubt that the verdict here was surely unattributable to the invalid instructions, or that the jury would have reached the same

conclusion if it had been properly instructed, since these new elements were not uncontested and there is nothing in the record – much less "overwhelming evidence" – supporting them. (*Neder, supra*, 527 U.S. 1.)

Here, the Court of Appeal concluded differently after merely paying lip service to the new law and failing to properly apply *Chapman* review. Specifically, the court found the prosecution introduced evidence of convictions for robbery and sale of narcotics, and "that the offenses were committed by Leuders Park gang members and that robbery and sale of narcotics are some of the gang's primary activities." (Opinion 13-14.) It then found, in a conclusory fashion, that the "benefit to the gang of robbery and sale of narcotics is more than reputational," and "[t]here is no reasonable doubt that the jury would have found the gang enhancement true had it been" properly instructed. (Opinion 14.)

This was not a proper application of A.B. 333, or *Chapman*, for multiple reasons.

First, in reality, the court pointed to *no evidence* showing that the predicate crimes were committed for the benefit of the gang. It relied only on evidence showing that gang members committed the crimes, and they were of the type that *could* render a benefit to the gang – but this is not enough. The law now requires that the *predicate crimes themselves* be shown *to have actually* "commonly benefited" the gang, in a nonreputational manner, and that the pattern of criminal activity they are alleged to have formed was committed "collectively." (§

186.22, subds. (e)(1) and (f).) Simply put, no evidence in the record supports these new elements, and the appellate court's conclusion is unsupported.

The appellate court's decision also conflicts with *People v. Lopez, supra*, 288 Cal.Rptr.3d 463 – a recently published opinion in a case with extremely similar facts where the court found reversal of the gang enhancement proper.²

In *Lopez*, the predicates included two murders committed by one gang member, and a carjacking/robbery committed by another. (*Lopez*, at *478.) The court found that "[a]lthough the People did submit evidence of two predicate offenses," they "did not prove that the predicate offenses commonly benefitted a criminal street gang and that the benefit was more than reputational" (id. at p. *479), and "[n]o evidence was introduced. ... to establish that the [predicate] crimes committed ... constitute[d] collective criminal activity by the "subject gang. (Id. at p. *478.) And while the respondent argued these omissions of proof were harmless based on information from appellate decisions in other cases, because that information was not presented to the jury, the court found it could not satisfy Lopez's "constitutional right to a jury trial on every element of the charged enhancement" - and thus, it reversed the enhancement. (*Id.* at p. *479.)

² *Lopez* was decided after appellant filed briefing on this issue below, but appellant informed the appellate court of the case via a letter of new authority filed on January 12, 2022.

The above analysis, made in a case with very similar predicate crimes and where the evidence surrounding them was basically identical to that presented here, conflicts with the lower court's opinion – and *Lopez* is the better-reasoned decision. There the court took a genuine look at the evidence, and took its Due Process analysis seriously in light of the statute's new terms. The same is not true here.

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