No. S273134

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ROBERT COOPER,

Petitioner and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B304490 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. TA140718 The Honorable Allen Joseph Webster, Jr., Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S FINDING THAT THE FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON ASSEMBLY BILL 333'S NEW REQUIREMENTS WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT UNDER CHAPMAN V. CALIFORNIA DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW

Petitioner contends that review is required to ensure that lower courts properly and uniformly apply section 186.22, subdivision (e)'s requirement that predicate gang offenses must commonly benefit a gang in a way that is more than reputational. (Pet. 7-10, 15-22.) But this ultimately challenges only the Court of Appeal's application of the well-established *Chapman* harmless error standard. Petitioner does not dispute that the failure to instruct on AB 333's predicate offense requirements is subject to a *Chapman* harmless error analysis. (See Pet. 7.) Rather, he disagrees with the Court of Appeal's finding of harmless error. The Court of Appeal's factual analysis under *Chapman* does not implicate a decisional conflict or an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Therefore, review is not warranted.

A. AB 333 amended the requirements for proving a gang enhancement under section 186.22

AB 333, which took effect on January 1, 2022, amended section 186.22 in several ways. As relevant to the issue presented here, it modified the definitions of "pattern of criminal activity" and "criminal street gang," and it clarified what is

required to show that an offense "benefit[s], promote[s], further[s], or assist[s]" a criminal street gang.

Under former section 186.22, subdivision (e), a "pattern of criminal gang activity" was defined as "the commission of, attempted commission of, conspiracy to commit, or solicitation of, sustained juvenile petition for, or conviction of, two or more of the following offenses, provided at least one of these offenses occurred after the effective date of this chapter, and the last of those offenses occurred within three years after a prior offense, and the offenses were committed on separate occasions, or by two or more persons."

AB 333 modified this definition, which is integral to proving both a gang participation offense and gang enhancement. Under the new law: (1) the last offense used to show a pattern of criminal gang activity must have occurred within three years of the date that the currently charged offense is alleged to have been committed; (2) the offenses must have been committed on separate occasions or by two or more gang members, as opposed to persons; (3) the offenses must have commonly benefited a criminal street gang in a way that was more than merely reputational; and (4) the currently charged offense may not be used to establish a pattern of gang activity. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3; amended § 186.22, subd. (e), eff. Jan. 1, 2022.) AB 333 also reduces the list of qualifying offenses that can be used to establish a pattern of gang activity, removing crimes such as looting, felony vandalism, and a host of fraud offenses. (*Ibid.*)

Under former section 186.22, subdivision (f), a "criminal street gang" was defined as "any ongoing organization, association, or group of three or more persons, whether formal or informal, having as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more of the criminal acts enumerated in paragraphs (1) to (25), inclusive, or (31) to (33), inclusive, of subdivision (e), having a common name or common identifying sign or symbol, and whose members individually or collectively engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity." AB 333 narrowed this definition by specifying that a criminal street gang must be "an ongoing, *organized* association or group of three or more persons" and requiring prosecutors to show that members of the gang "collectively" engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3; amended § 186.22, subd. (f), eff. Jan. 1, 2022, italics added.)

AB 333 also clarified that to "benefit, promote, further, or assist" a criminal street gang "means to provide a common benefit to members of a gang where the common benefit is more than reputational." (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3; amended § 186.22, subd. (g), eff. Jan. 1, 2022.) Examples of a common benefit that is more than reputational "may include, but are not limited to, financial gain or motivation, retaliation, targeting a perceived or actual gang rival, or intimidation or silencing of a potential current or previous witness or informant." (*Ibid*.)

///

///

B. The Court of Appeal's factual analysis under *Chapman* does not implicate a decisional conflict or an important question of law

Petitioner agrees with the Court of Appeal's conclusions that AB 333's amendments to section 186.22 apply retroactively to his case and that the *Chapman* harmless error standard applies to his claim of instructional error (that he was prejudiced because the jury was not instructed it had to find that the predicate offenses must commonly benefit a criminal street gang in a way that was more than reputational). (Pet. 7.) He disagrees, however, with the Court of Appeal's finding that the *Chapman* standard was satisfied by the evidence of the predicate offenses that was admitted in this case, which showed that a Leuders Park gang member was previously convicted of robbery and that another Leuders Park gang member was previously convicted of the sale of narcotics. Petitioner's challenge is simply a disagreement with the Court of Appeal's assessment of the evidence in this case under *Chapman*, which does not implicate a decisional conflict or an important question of law.

Petitioner argues that this issue is rooted in the Court of Appeal's interpretation of section 186.22, rather than its analysis of the facts. Specifically, he argues that the Court of Appeal misinterpreted section 186.22, subdivision (e), by concluding that the convictions of individual gang members for robbery and narcotics sales satisfied the requirement that those crimes commonly benefited the gang. (Pet. 8, 17-21.) But petitioner's argument is factual in nature. The Court of Appeal reasonably found, based on the characteristics of the predicate offenses and the expert testimony, that those offenses were among the Leuders Park gang's primary activities and that the individual gang members committed the crimes for the benefit of the gang. (Opn. 13-14.) Petitioner's allegation that there was an absence of evidence supporting the Court of Appeal's finding is simply a challenge to the Court of Appeal's analysis of the facts under *Chapman*, rather than to its interpretation of amended section 186.22. It therefore does not implicate an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

Petitioner also has not identified any clear decisional conflicts among the Courts of Appeal. (See Pet. 8-9, 18-20.) In *People v. Lopez* (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 327, like in the instant case, the jury was not instructed under section 186.22, subdivision (e)'s amended requirement that predicate offenses must commonly benefit a criminal street gang in a way that was more than reputational. (*Id.* at p. 346.) The *Lopez* court, however, rejected the People's argument that the instructional error was harmless. (*Ibid.*)³ The predicate offenses presented at trial were two murders committed by gang member William Vasquez and a carjacking and robbery committed by gang member Guillermo de Los Angeles. (*Id.* at p. 344.) On appeal, the People contended there was evidence showing the predicate offenses benefitted the gang in a way that was more than

³ It is not clear whether the *Lopez* court applied a harmless error analysis and found the error to be prejudicial or determined that the error was not amendable to a harmless error analysis. (See *id.* at p. 346.)

reputational. But the Court of Appeal rejected the argument because "the evidence described by the People in their supplemental briefing was not evidence presented to the jury in this case—instead, the People dr[e]w their information from unpublished appellate decisions concerning Vasquez and a codefendant of De Los Angeles." The *Lopez* court further noted that "the jury was not prohibited from relying upon the currently charged offenses in determining whether a pattern of criminal gang activity had been proven, nor was it instructed that it had to find that the benefit to the charged offenses was more than reputational." (*Ibid.*)

Here, unlike *Lopez*, the Court of Appeal's harmless error determination was based on the gang expert's testimony from petitioner's trial rather than from evidence outside the record. (Opn. 13-14.) In addition, unlike the murders committed by Vasquez in *Lopez*, the predicate offenses of robbery and narcotics sales in this case are, by their very nature, crimes that carry a financial (and therefore nonreputational) benefit. Therefore, the instant case is distinguishable.

People v. Sek (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 657, is similarly distinguishable from, rather than in conflict with, the Court of Appeal's decision in the present case. Unlike the instant case, Sek concerned the failure to instruct the jury—in light of AB 333—of the requirement that the defendant's offenses (of attempted murder, shooting into an occupied vehicle, assault with a semiautomatic firearm, and being an accessory after the fact) must have benefited the gang in a way that was more than reputational. (*Id.* at pp. 664, 667.) The *Sek* court applied *Chapman* but found that the instructional error was prejudicial because the gang expert testified at trial to the reputational *and* nonreputational benefits to the gang of those offenses. (*Id.* at pp. 667-680.)

Here, unlike Sek, the gang expert did not testify that the predicate offenses of robbery and narcotics sales benefited Leuders Park in a reputational way. Indeed, the benefits of those offenses are inherently financial. Thus, the Court of Appeal found that the evidence introduced by the prosecution about the predicate offenses and Leuders Park's primary gang activities was uncontradicted. (See Opn. 13-14; see also United States v. Neder (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 17 [instructional error is harmless under Chapman "where a reviewing court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error"]; accord People v. Sakarias (2000) 22 Cal.4th 596, 625.) More importantly, Sek, like the Court of Appeal here, applied the Chapman standard to instructional error under AB 333.

Petitioner correctly notes that respondent requested publication of the Court of Appeal's opinion below. (Pet. 9-10, 20; Resp. Request for Publication, filed Feb. 3, 2022.) At the time that respondent was preparing the request, the opinion below would have been the first Court of Appeal opinion to apply a *Chapman* analysis to instructional error based on the retroactive application of AB 333. The *Sek* decision was issued two days before respondent's publication request was filed, but respondent believed that publication was worthwhile as a citable example of harmless error after application of AB 333.

Respondent's publication request notes that the Court of Appeal's reasoning below "indicates that a crime committed by a gang member that, by its nature, involves a financial benefit to the offender—such as robbery and the sale of narcotics inherently benefits the offender's gang in a non-reputational way if the crime is among the gang's primary activities." (Resp. Request for Publication.) As indicated in the letter, this reasoning provides valuable guidance to trial courts and practitioners about the type of evidence or factual showing that may be made to satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (e). It does not implicate a decisional conflict—and even if it did, the opinion below currently remains unpublished and has no precedential value.

Lastly, petitioner briefly suggests that the requirement under section 186.22, subdivision (f), for the prosecution to establish that gang members collectively rather than individually engage in a pattern of gang activity, means that predicate offenses under section 186.22, subdivision (e), must be committed by more than one gang member. (Pet. 16.) This issue was not raised by petitioner in the Court of Appeal, was not argued by the parties below, and was not part of the Court of Appeal's analysis. Moreover, respondent has filed a petition for review in *People v*. *Delgado* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 1067 (Pet. filed Mar. 22, 2022, S273722), where the parties and the Court of Appeal decision

squarely addressed the issue. In *Delgado*, the Court of Appeal held that the reference to "collectively" in section 186.22, subdivision (f), requires proof that two or more gang members committed each predicate offense under subdivision (e). (*Id.* at pp. 1088-1091.) Because one of the predicate offenses in *Delgado* was committed by a single gang member, the *Delgado* court remanded the case for a retrial on the gang enhancement. (*Id.* at p. 1091.) *Delgado* is therefore a more appropriate vehicle for reviewing this issue. The instant case does not merit review.

II. REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED TO DECIDE WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS SENTENCING DISCRETION UNDER SECTION 12022.53

Petitioner also contends that review must be granted to ensure that trial courts are aware of their discretion under section 12022.53, subdivision (h), to sentence defendants pursuant to the firearm enhancements in subdivisions (b) and (c), which carry a lesser sentence than the enhancement in subdivision (d). (Pet. 10-12, 25-31.) This issue does not amount to an important question of law, and petitioner has not identified any decisional conflicts among the appellate courts. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Indeed, the law is clear that trial courts possess the discretion impose a lesser firearm enhancement. As the Court of Appeal correctly held, the trial court is presumed to be aware of its discretion and nothing in the record suggests otherwise.

///

A. The trial court sentenced petitioner pursuant to the section 12022.53, subdivision (d), firearm enhancement

At the start of the sentencing hearing, defense counsel asked the court to dismiss petitioner's strike conviction under *People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, because petitioner was 17 years old when he committed the underlying crime. (4RT 4214.) Counsel added, "And also the gun enhancement. [¶] The evidence is extremely weak that he personally used a gun in the commission of this crime. The court has the discretion to do that, which would reduce the sentence down to 25 years to life." (4RT 4214-4215.)

Counsel and the court briefly discussed the underlying strike conviction, and the trial court recessed the proceedings to obtain more information about petitioner's criminal history. (4RT 4215-4218.) When the proceedings resumed, the trial court noted that petitioner had suffered two prior robbery convictions for which he served concurrent terms of three years in state prison and 180 days in county jail and that he had "picked up a number of misdemeanor convictions" after he was released. (4RT 4218-4219.) As a result, the court explained, "for purposes of *Romero*, Mr. Cooper, I would like to give you some slack, cut you as much slack as I can. But your record is so bad it's difficult to do so because yours basically is just a complete history of recidivism." (4RT 4219.) The court concluded that petitioner's "history of continuing to commit crimes" placed him "outside the spirit of *Romero*. There's no real particular reason why the court even remotely would consider [dismissing the strike]. I would do so if,

in fact, I had something to work with. But you leave me no choice because of all these convictions." (4RT 4219-4220.)

Defense counsel countered that both robberies were committed more than 10 years earlier, when petitioner was 17 years old, and petitioner had not suffered any felony convictions since then. Counsel also noted other extenuating circumstances, including the fact that petitioner's father was one of the founders of the Leuders Park gang, and asked the court "for mercy in this particular case." (4RT 4220-4221.)

The trial court acknowledged petitioner's difficult upbringing and the fact that many criminal defendants "really are somewhat doomed from the beginning, based upon the fact of the circumstances through no fault of their own." (4RT 4221-4222.) But the court explained that defendants are "still held to the responsibility of being law-abiding citizens as best they can, to do whatever they can to, you know, be successful in life." (4RT 4222.) The court continued:

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